
 

 

 
Regulatory Committee 

 
Date:  Tuesday 4 October 2022 
Time:  10.30 am 
Venue:  Committee Room 2, Shire Hall 
 
Membership 
Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince (Chair) 
Councillor John Cooke (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Jeff Clarke 
Councillor Judy Falp 
Councillor Sarah Feeney 
Councillor Dave Humphreys 
Councillor Jack Kennaugh 
Councillor Justin Kerridge 
Councillor Jan Matecki 
Councillor Chris Mills 
Councillor Ian Shenton 
Councillor Adrian Warwick 
 
Items on the agenda: -  
  
1.   General 

 
 

 
(1) Apologies  
 
To receive any apologies from Members of the Committee. 
 

 

 
(2) Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 
 

 
 

(3) Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

5 - 8 
 
2.   Delegated Decisions 9 - 10 
  

Members are asked to note the applications dealt with under 
delegated powers since the last meeting. 
 

 

Planning Applications 
  
3.   Planning Application NBB/22CC001 - Creation of cycle path 

through Abbey Green Gardens, Corporation Street, Nuneaton 
 

11 - 30 

 
4.   Trustees of King Edward VI Grammar School, Stratford upon 

Avon 
 

31 - 32 

Monica Fogarty 
Chief Executive 

Warwickshire County Council 
Shire Hall, Warwick 

 
 

https://planning.warwickshire.gov.uk/swiftlg/apas/run/WPHAPPDETAIL.DisplayUrl?theApnID=NBB/22CC001&backURL=%253Ca%2520href%253Dwphappcriteria.display%253FpaSearchKey%253D311338%253ESearch%2520Criteria%253C%252Fa%253E%20%3E%20%3Ca%20href%3D%27wphappsearchres.displayResultsURL%3FResultID%3D469873%2526StartIndex%3D1%2526SortOrder%3DRGNDAT%3AD%2526DispResultsAs%3DWPHAPPSEARCHRES%2526BackURL%3D%253Ca%2520href%253Dwphappcriteria.display%253FpaSearchKey%253D311338%253ESearch%2520Criteria%253C%252Fa%253E%27%3ESearch%20Results%3C%2Fa%3E


Regulatory Committee 
Tuesday 4 October 2022 

Page 2 
  

 

 
Disclaimers 
 
Webcasting and permission to be filmed 
Please note that this meeting will be filmed for live broadcast on the internet and can be viewed on 
line at warwickshire.public-i.tv. Generally, the public gallery is not filmed, but by entering the 
meeting room and using the public seating area you are consenting to being filmed. All recording 
will be undertaken in accordance with the Council's Standing Orders. 
 
Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 
Members are required to register their disclosable pecuniary interests within 28 days of their 
election of appointment to the Council.  Any changes to matters registered or new matters that 
require to be registered must be notified to the Monitoring Officer as soon as practicable after they 
arise. 
 
A member attending a meeting where a matter arises in which they have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest must (unless they have a dispensation):  
 

• Declare the interest if they have not already registered it  
• Not participate in any discussion or vote  
• Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with  
• Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 

the meeting  
 
Non-pecuniary interests relevant to the agenda should be declared at the commencement of the 
meeting. 
 
The public reports referred to are available on the Warwickshire Web 
https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1  
 
Public Speaking 
Any member of the public who is resident or working in Warwickshire, or who is in receipt of 
services from the Council, may speak at the meeting for up to three minutes on any matter within 
the remit of the Committee. This can be in the form of a statement or a question. If you wish to 
speak please notify Democratic Services in writing at least two working days before the meeting. 
You should give your name and address and the subject upon which you wish to speak. Full details 
of the public speaking scheme are set out in the Council’s Standing Orders.  
 
COVID-19 Pandemic 
Any member or officer of the Council or any person attending this meeting must inform Democratic 
Services if within a week of the meeting they discover they have COVID-19 or have been in close 
proximity to anyone found to have COVID-19. 
 
 

https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

Regulatory Committee 
 

Tuesday 5 July 2022  

 

Minutes 
 
Attendance 
 
Committee Members 
 
Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince (Chair) 
Councillor John Cooke (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Judy Falp 
Councillor Sarah Feeney 
Councillor Dave Humphreys 
Councillor Justin Kerridge 
Councillor Jan Matecki 
Councillor Chris Mills 
Councillor Adrian Warwick 
 
Officers 
 
Helen Barnsley, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
Ian Marriott, Delivery Lead - Commercial and Regulatory 
Sally Panayi, Senior Planning Officer 
Matthew Williams, Senior Planning Officer 
Scott Tompkins, Assistant Director for Environment Services 
 
Others Present 
 
David Lawrence - Press 
Jake Sullivan, Ridge and Partners 
 
1. General 
 

(1) Apologies 
 
 Apologies were received from Councillor Jeff Clarke and Councillor Christopher Kettle. 

 
(2) Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 

 
 None. 

 
(3) Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

 
 The Minutes of the meeting held on 7 June 2022 were agreed as a true and accurate record.  

There were no matters arising.   

Page 3

Page 1 of 4 Agenda Item 1(3)



 

Page 2 
Regulatory Committee 
 
05.07.22 

 
2. Delegated Decisions 
 
None. 
 
3. Planning Application WDC/22CC002: Construction of  new nursery, children's centre and 

extension to school at Kingsway Community Primary School, Baker Ave, Leamington 
Spa, CV31 3HB. 

 
Sally Panayi (Senior Planner) presented the report and provided an overview of the application 
which relates to the construction of a new single storey nursey and children’s centre and single 
storey school extension in Leamington Spa. 
 
Full details were presented to the Committee including the following –  
 

 The existing Children’s Centre would be demolished. 
 

 Temporary buildings currently in place would be removed. 
 

 There are residential properties to the north and east of the site. 
 

 There is commercial development to the south and west of the site. 
 

 The current car park would be expanded to provide a total of 50 spaces including 4 
disabled spaces. 

 

 There would also be 5 electric vehicle spaces, with charging points. 
 

 A net increase in biodiversity will be achieved by the creation of a wildlife corridor which 
will also enhance the existing boundary. 

 

 Sustainability requirements for the proposed development have been met using design 
principles that reduce heat gains and losses and use low energy solutions and energy 
available from renewable sources to heat and ventilate the buildings 

 
There have been two objections in relation to on street parking. The Committee noted that these 
are standard problems at school sites, especially at peak times, where people park across yellow 
zig-zag lines or on the pavement. It was confirmed that the planned expansion of the car park 
provision would increase parking for staff on site. 
 
Comments in relation to local wildlife have been received by officers. It was confirmed that 
movement of protected species including hedgehogs would not be restricted by the erection of 
boundary fencing. It was noted that the school has a mini forest on site and that this will remain in 
place. 
 
The Committee was informed that erection of the children’s centre would require the removal of 
vegetation including  immature trees in the central area of the wildlife site. The mature trees along 
the eastern boundary of the site adjacent to the gardens of Hawthorn Road are to be retained. 
 

Page 4

Page 2 of 4



 

Page 3 
Regulatory Committee 
 
05.07.22 

Following a question from Councillor Sarah Feeney, it was confirmed that the current cycling 
storage facilities will remain on site and an additional cycle store will be positioned closer to the 
children’s centre. 
 
 
 
DEBATE 
 
Councillor John Cooke stated that he felt this was an interesting application and thanked officers 
for the presentation, including the photos which helped Members visualise the site. 
 
Councillor Judy Falp stated that she welcomed the additional parking.  Some staff who will visit the 
children’s centre are not there permanently with a desk and have previously had to park some 
distance away. 
 
Councillor Adrian Warwick added that this was a very positive application with an excellent design. 
 
Councillor Jan Matecki added that the way the building had been planned and designed is very 
thoughtful and suggested that others could learn a lot from this application.   
 
The recommendation was proposed by Councillor John Cooke and was seconded by Councillor 
Judy Falp.  
 
A vote was held, and the Committee voted unanimously in favour of the  
Recommendation. 
 
Resolved 
 
That the Regulatory Committee authorises the grant of planning permission for the construction of 
a new single storey nursery and children's centre and single storey school extension at Kingsway 
Community Primary School, subject to the conditions and for the reasons contained within 
Appendix B of the report of the Strategic Director for Communities. 
 

Page 5

Page 3 of 4



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6

Page 4 of 4



 

 
 

Regulatory Committee – 4 October 2022 
 
Applications Dealt with Under Delegated Powers between  

5th July 2022 – 4th October 2022 
 

Recommendation 
 
That the Regulatory Committee notes the content of the report 
 
Delegated Powers 
 
C. APPLICATIONS DEALT WITH UNDER DELEGATED POWERS BETWEEN  
5th July 2022 – 4th October 2022 
Application reference 
& valid date  
electoral division 
case officer 

Site location & proposal Decision date 

 
NWB/21CM002 
 
Hartshill & Mancetter 
 
Sally Panayi 
Senior Planner 

 
Arley Sewage Treatment Works, off Station 
Road, Coventry, CV7 8FG  
 
Installation of a Motor Control Centre Kiosk 
and a Sodium Hydroxide Dosing Kiosk 
 

 
Approved 

26.07.2022 

 
RBC/22CM001 
 
Earl Craven 
 
Sally Panayi 
Senior Planner 

 
Road Sweeping Plant, Ling Hall CV23 9HH  
 
Variation of condition 2 of permission 
RBC/11CM020 
 

 
Approved 

29.07.2022 

 
NBB/22CM002 
 
Bedworth East 
 
Sally Panayi 
Senior Planner 

 
Cleansing Services Group, Colliery Lane, 
Exhall, Coventry, CV7 9NW  
 
Proposed extension of existing bund, removal 
of steel bunded storage tank and installation 
of 5 storage tanks at the existing oils and 
waste treatment facility 
 

 
Approved 

29.07.2022 

 
NBB/22CC005  
 
Bedworth West 
 
Sally Panayi 
Senior Planner 
 

 
Exhall Grange School, Easter Way, off 
Prologis Park, Coventry, CV7 9JG  
 
Retention of temporary building for 104 weeks 
to provide 2 classrooms whilst asbestos is 
removed from existing buildings 
 

 
Approved 

08.09.2022 

 

Page 7

Page 1 of 1 Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 
OFFICIAL 

Regulatory Committee – 04 October 2022 
 

Proposed creation of a 3m wide segregated 
pedestrian and cyclist pathway through Abbey Green 

Gardens, Corporation Street, Nuneaton. 
 

NBB/22CC001 
 
Application No.: NBB/22CC001 
  
Advertised date: 23 March 2022 
  
Applicant: Mr Craig Cusack 

Assistant Director for Enabling Services 
Warwickshire County Council 
Shire Hall Post Room 
Northgate Street 
Warwick 
CV34 4SP 

  
Agent: Mr Viral Desai 

Atkins Limited 
Two Chamberlain Square 
Birmingham 
B3 3AX 

  
Registered by: The Strategic Director for Communities on 16 March 

2022 
  
Proposal: Upgrading and relocation of the Corporation Street 

pedestrian and cycling facilities by creation of a 3m wide 
segregated pedestrian and cyclist pathway through 
Abbey Green, alongside soft landscaping and street 
lighting. 

  
Site & location: Abbey Green Gardens, Corporation Street, Nuneaton. 

[Grid ref: 435947.292171]. 
 
See plan in Appendix A 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the Regulatory Committee authorises the grant of planning permission for the 
upgrading and relocation of the Corporation Street pedestrian and cycling facilities, 
with soft landscaping and street lighting subject to the conditions and for the 
reasons contained within Appendix B of the report of the Strategic Director for 
Communities. 

Page 9

Page 1 of 13 Agenda Item 3



 
OFFICIAL 

1. Application details 
 
1.1 The application seeks consent for the installation of a shared cycle 

way/footpath to run through Abbey Green Gardens. The cycleway would 
replace the existing pedestrian and cycling facilities on Corporation Street. 

 
1.2 Abbey Green Gardens is an area of some 0.8 ha laid to grass, with 

mature and semi-mature trees planted along the boundaries with 
adjacent streets; Corporation Street to the west, Graham Street to the 
east and Central Avenue to the north. The grass area is divided by 
footpaths running across the gardens. 

 
1.3 The proposed works would consist of the creation of a 3m wide 

segregated pedestrian (1.5 m wide) and cyclist pathway (1.5m wide). 
The pathway would run roughly parallel to Corporation Street and 
would link to Central Avenue at the northern end and at the southern 
end to Corporation Street close to the roundabout junction with the 
A444.  
 

1.4 The path/cycleway would comprise an asphalt surface raised by some 
300mm above the existing ground level. The proposed installation 
would be a non-dig construction, with a porous sub-base stabilised with 
a ‘honeycomb’ cellular geotextile. The surface would be of a permeable 
or porous material where it is installed over tree roots. 
 

1.5 No mature trees would be removed as a result of the proposed works, 
however two newly planted trees within the application area would 
need to be moved or replaced. The route of the pathway would run 
through the Root Protection Area (RPA) of 10 trees on the western side 
of the gardens, as a result the installation would be no-dig construction 
of the porous surface over the root area.  
 

1.6 An informal planting area is proposed to be created along the entire 
eastern side of the proposed pathway and for additional informal soft 
landscape areas to be planted between the western side of the path 
and the existing line of trees growing to the rear of the pavement along 
Corporation Street. A total of 7 new trees are proposed to be planted in 
addition to the informal planting areas. 
 

1.7 The installation of a lighting scheme is proposed, comprising six black 
painted LED luminaires mounted on 6 m high galvanised steel lighting 
columns. 
 

1.8 Fencing and bollards would be installed at each end of the cycleway to 
deter use of the route by motorcycles or other off-road vehicles. 
 

2. Consultation 
 
2.1 Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council – Planning: No 

objection.  
 

Page 10

Page 2 of 13



 
OFFICIAL 

2.2  Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council - Environmental Health: 
No objection.  

 
2.3 Councillor Caroline Phillips: No comments received. 
 
2.4 WCC Senior Transport Planner: The proposed shared 

footway/cycleway is a welcome segregated-from-traffic route that will 
introduce new walking and cycling improvements to the Abbey Green 
area. It is hoped that future funding opportunities will be secured to 
continue this provision along Central Avenue and then onto Midland 
Road. The proposed scheme is likely to tie into the future Transforming 
Nuneaton Project, which has some important walking and cycling 
improvements that will benefit from this small, but functional link. 

 
2.5 WCC HR Advisory Team Council: No comments received.  
 
2.6 WCC Flood Risk and Water Management: No objection subject to a 

planning pre-commencement condition for the approval in writing of a 
detailed surface water drainage scheme. 

 
2.7 WCC Principal Highway Control Engineer: No objection.  
 

The initial Highway response raised an objection on the grounds that it 
had not been shown that the pedestrian crossing fronting 54 Central 
Avenue is both safe and suitable for the purpose. On consideration of 
amended plans the response was changed to no objection, stating:   

 
The layout has been altered to improve pedestrian connectivity and 
safety fronting Central Avenue. Bollards are shown surrounding the 
northern side of the bellmouth junction with Corporation Street. This is 
to ensure drivers do not use the combined cycleway / pedestrian 
crossing point for vehicular access. As part of detailed design, the 
bollards will need to be positioned to allow people to walk side by side 
whilst still preventing motor vehicle use, rather than the indicative 
positioning shown.  
A Stage 1 / 2 Road Safety Audit has been carried out on the amended 
layout. The Safety Team accept the Designer’s Response for the 
issues raised. As such, the concerns previously raised appear to have 
been overcome. Because the application is from Warwickshire County 
Council, no highway conditions regarding agreements can be 
recommended. The County Council cannot enter into a highways 
agreement with the County Council. And as this team will not be 
involved in technical approval or construction, there are no conditions 
to recommend. Therefore, the Highway Authority’s response to your 
consultation is one of no objection. 
 

2.8 WCC Archaeology: No comments to make on this application. 
 
2.9 WCC Ecology Services: No objection subject to conditions for the 

inclusion of a Construction and Environmental Management Plan and a 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan. 

Page 11

Page 3 of 13



 
OFFICIAL 

2.10 WCC Planning Policy Team: No comments received.  
  
2.11 Four site notices were displayed on lampposts at four locations 

surrounding the gardens on 23 March 2022. A press notice was posted 
in the local newspaper on 23 March 2022.  

 
2.12 Neighbour consultation letters were posted to the 84 nearest residential 

properties on Corporation Street, Central Avenue and Graham Street.   
 
3. Representations 
 
3.1 In response to the consultation, one representation was received from 

a local resident who objected to the proposal on the following grounds.  
 

1)  Cyclists use the road even though the footpath at present is shared 
from Corporation Street down to Asda. This proposed cycleway will 
never be used. 

  
2)  Widening the existing footpath would negate the reason to go 

ahead with this proposal. The benefits being –  
 

a) No need for lighting as existing is more than adequate. 
 

b) Extending the tarmac to the kerbside would negate the cost of 
maintaining the grass verge between the existing footpath and 
road. 

 
3)  If the cycleway goes ahead, I fear that this is the tip of the iceberg 

regarding redevelopment of Corporation Street to provide an extra 
lane of traffic at the expense of the mature trees we have. I see 
the landscape drawing proposal which states the positioning of 
the new trees, but no mention of the existing trees. Why are they 
not mentioned? 

  
4)  I am led to believe that there is a covenant on the Green whereas 

the Green cannot be touched and must remain ‘as is’ as it was 
given to the people of Abbey Green. 

  
4. Previous Planning History 
 
4.1 There is no previous planning history relating to the application site. 
 
5. Assessment and Observations 
 
 Location 
 
5.1 The application site is located approximately 0.3 km to the north-west 

of Nuneaton Town Centre. Abbey Green Gardens is a triangular area 
of open space, predominantly laid to grass, and divided by tarmac 
paths crossing the park which is bordered along the three sides by 
mature trees. The gardens are bounded by Central Avenue to the 

Page 12

Page 4 of 13



 
OFFICIAL 

north; Graham Street to the east and Corporation Street to the south-
west. Corporation Street roundabout lies to the south, connecting to the 
A444 and Powell Way.  

 
5.2 Abbey Green Gardens are surrounded by residential development with 

terraced housing on the western side of Corporation Street; terraced 
houses on the eastern side of Graham Street and detached and semi-
detached houses on the northern side of Central Avenue, all facing 
towards the gardens. 

 
5.3 The pavement running parallel to Corporation Street is positioned 

between the line of trees on the western edge of the park and the grass 
highway verge. A bus layby is positioned on the eastern side of 
Corporation Street to the north of a signalised pedestrian crossing 
located towards the southern end of Corporation Street. Two large 
highway direction signs are installed at height above the pavement, 
spanning the width of the pavement to direct traffic travelling into the 
town. 

 
 Planning Policy 
 
5.4 Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) July 

2021 explains that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and what that means. What the presumption means in 
relation to a planning application is that: 

 
(a) proposals which accord with an up-to-date development plan 

should be approved without delay; and 
 

(b) where there are no relevant development plan policies or the 
policies most important for determining the application are out-
of-date, then permission should be granted unless: 

 
● the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or 

assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed or 

 
● any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 
Where the presumption in (b) applies, it is often referred to as the “tilted 
balance” in favour of the application. 

 
Paragraph 12 goes on to explain that the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development does not change the statutory status of the 
development plan as the starting point for decision making. Where a 
planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan 
(including any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development 
plan), permission should not usually be granted. Local planning 
authorities may take decisions that depart from an up-to-date 

Page 13

Page 5 of 13



 
OFFICIAL 

development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular 
case indicate that the plan should not be followed. 

 
5.5 Paragraph 48 explains that authorities may give weight to relevant 

policies in emerging development plans according to: a) the stage of 
preparation of the emerging plan; b) the extent to which there are 
unresolved objections to relevant policies; and c) the degree of 
consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this 
Framework. 

 
5.6 In this case, the development plan is the Nuneaton and Bedworth 

Borough Council Borough Plan (2011 – 2031) adopted in June 2019, 
which has relevant policies that are up to date so far as they relate to 
this proposal. The application should therefore be determined (as 
required by Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004) in accordance with those policies unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework 

 
5.7 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2021) has at its 

heart a presumption in favour of sustainable development to be 
achieved by three interdependent objectives; economic, social and 
environmental, to build a strong competitive economy, vibrant healthy 
communities while enhancing the natural, built and historic 
environment. 

 
5.8 Paragraph 92 states that planning decisions should aim to achieve  
 healthy, inclusive and safe places which:  
 

c) enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would 
address identified local health and well-being needs – for example 
through the provision of safe and accessible green infrastructure, 
sports facilities, local shops, access to healthier food, allotments and 
layouts that encourage walking and cycling. 

 
5.9 Paragraph 98 states that access to a network of high-quality open 

spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for 
the health and well-being of communities and can deliver wider 
benefits for nature and support efforts to address climate change.  

5.10 Paragraph 99 states that existing open space, sports and recreational 
buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on 
unless: 

 
b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced 

by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a 
suitable location. 

 
5.11 Paragraph 104 states that opportunities to promote walking, cycling  
 and public transport use are identified and pursued 
 

Page 14

Page 6 of 13



 
OFFICIAL 

5.12 Paragraph 105 states that significant development should be focused 
on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the 
need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This 
can help to reduce congestion and emissions and improve air quality 
and public health. 

 
5.13 Paragraph 112 states that applications for development should give 

priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, and create places that 
are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the scope for conflicts 
between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street 
clutter, and respond to local character and design standards.  

 
 The Development Plan 
 

Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council Borough Plan 2011-2031 
 
5.14 Policy DS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development: 

states that a positive approach will be taken towards proposals that 
reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
contained in the NPPF. It will always work proactively with applicants to 
jointly find solutions which mean that proposals can be approved 
wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area.  

 
5.15 Policy DS2 – Settlement of hierarchy: Most development will be 

directed to Nuneaton as the primary town. Patterns of growth should be 
focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, and which 
make full use of public transport, walking and cycling. 

 
5.16 Policy DS3 – Development principles: requires that all new 

development is sustainable and of a high quality, fully supported by 
infrastructure provision, as well as environmental mitigation and 
enhancement. New development within the settlement boundaries will 
be acceptable subject to there being a positive impact on amenity, the 
surrounding environment and local infrastructure. 

 
5.17 Policy TC2 – Nature of town centre growth: development will be 

expected to create a more accessible, well-connected and well-
designed centre, with particular emphasis on linkages by walking, 
cycling and public transport. 

 
5.18 Policy HS2 – Strategic accessibility and sustainable transport: 

states that planning applications are required to address issues 
including how the development delivers sustainable transport options in 
a safe way that link to the wider transport network. Proposals should 
include provisions which promote more sustainable transport options.  

 
5.19 Policy HS6 – Sport and exercise: states that proposals which assist 

in creating a healthy environment across the borough through the use 
of sports, leisure and recreation facilities and/or opportunities to 
exercise will be approved. 

Page 15

Page 7 of 13



 
OFFICIAL 

5.20 Policy NE1 – Green infrastructure: states that the Borough’s green 
infrastructure assets will be created, protected, managed and 
enhanced. New development proposals will create new, and enhance 
existing, green infrastructure assets, by means including creating a 
linked network of signed strategic and local greenway routes for 
walking and cycling, connecting the green network of key green 
spaces, townscape and landscape by delivering the strategic cycle 
network plans.  

 
5.21 Policy NE2 – Open space: states that new development will create an 

improved green network of publicly accessible and linked open spaces 
to support growth by creating a network of strategic and local walking 
and cycling routes in order to increase the connectivity of open spaces. 

 
5.22 Policy NE3 – Biodiversity and geodiversity: seeks to conserve, 

enhance, restore and where appropriate create ecological value in 
sites as well as supporting biodiversity offsetting in order to achieve no 
net loss of biodiversity. 

 
5.23 Policy BE3 – Sustainable design and construction: requires that 

development proposals are designed to a high standard and contribute 
to local distinctiveness and character by reflecting the positive 
attributes of the neighbouring area. 

 
 Policy Considerations 
 
5.24 The proposed development which seeks to provide a safe route for 

cyclists routed through Abbey Green Gardens; to provide a sustainable 
form of transport and to help reduce pollution is supported by policies 
in the NPPF and the development plan. The development plan also 
includes policy constraints which seek to ensure a satisfactory form of 
development in order to protect the natural and built environment and 
the amenity of neighbouring occupiers from any adverse impacts 
resulting from the development. Subject to such effects and impacts 
being appropriately managed, the proposed development would accord 
with the policies of the NPPF and the development plan. The potential 
issues are considered below. 

 
 Amenity and Environmental Issues 
 
 Residential Amenity 
 
5.25 The construction period of the proposed development has the potential 

to impact residential amenity as a result of delivery and storage of 
materials and noise and disturbance during the installation. The impact 
would however be for a limited period of time and would not be a 
reason to refuse the application. 

 
5.26 The routing of the cycleway/footpath through the open space and its 

use by cyclists and pedestrians is not considered to have a greater 

Page 16

Page 8 of 13



 
OFFICIAL 

impact or significantly different impact on residential amenity than the 
existing use. 

 
 Ecology 
 
5.27 The Ecological Impact Assessment submitted to support the 

application details that a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal was carried 
out in June 2020 and a Phase 1 habitat survey in June 2021. 

 
5.28 The application site has no specific nature conservation designation 

and there are no protected species recorded within the site. The site is 
largely amenity grassland with mature trees to the boundaries.  

 
5.29 The nearest non-statutory ecological sites are Abbey Field, Local 

Wildlife Site (LWS) 320m southwest, River Anker, potential Local 
Wildlife Site (pLWS) 220m northeast, Railway Embankments Local 
Wildlife Site (LWS) 580 northwest, Midland Quarry, Local Geological 
Site (LGS) 760m west and Judkins Quarry, Local Wildlife Site (LWS) 
880m northwest.  The proposed development is not considered to have 
an impact on these ecological sites.  

 
5.30 One tree within the application area was identified as having potential 

for roosting bats. Bat surveys were undertaken with no recordings of 
bats. The applicant subsequently confirmed that the tree in question 
(T92) would not be impacted by the proposed works. Further surveys 
are to be undertaken to ensure more information is available should 
there be a requirement for future maintenance works on the tree, but 
that survey is not required as a condition of any approval granted. 

 
5.31 The Biodiversity Impact Assessment submitted to support the 

application indicated a small gain of 0.01 biodiversity units. The County 
Ecologist raised no objection and commented that the proposed 
planting appears to offer sufficient additional habitat to result in an 
overall gain in biodiversity in line with the NPPF. Planning conditions 
are recommended for a Construction and Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) and a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
(LEMP) to ensure a net biodiversity gain.  

 
5.32 An objection from a local resident questioned the impact of the 

proposed development on the existing trees within the park and raised 
concern that Corporation Street could in the future be widened to 
provide an additional lane at the expense of the trees on the edge of 
the park. In their response, the applicant confirmed that the mature 
trees within the application site are to be retained by the current 
development and a number of additional trees are proposed to be 
planted as part of the landscape scheme. The applicant further clarified 
that the submitted plans only highlight the changes or additions in the 
Abbey Green area and confirmed that the proposed plans and the 
wider Transforming Nuneaton proposals would not impact on the 
existing trees within Abbey Green Garden. 

 

Page 17

Page 9 of 13



 
OFFICIAL 

Lighting 
 
5.33 The proposed scheme would introduce lighting along the cycleway 

where there is currently none installed in the Abbey Green Gardens. 
However, the surrounding roads have existing street lighting, therefore 
the introduction of lighting to the open space would not significantly 
increase the levels of lighting and not to a degree that is considered to 
have a detrimental impact on residential amenity.  

 
5.34 The provision of lighting for the cycle way is necessary as the existing 

street lighting on Corporation Street is shadowed by the trees on the 
highway verge and would not therefore provide adequate lighting for 
the proposed route within the open space.  

 
5.35 The submitted Lighting Scheme details that the proposed lighting 

specified for the cycleway would be black painted, 6 m tall lighting 
columns set back from the back edge of the cycleway by a minimum of 
1 m. The columns would be base-hinged in design to allow columns to 
be lowered to provide access to luminaires during maintenance. Each 
column would have 150 mm yellow contrasting bands to aid the 
partially sighted.  

 
5.36 The proposed columns are indicated to be positioned away from trees 

and, away from the Norway Maple tree which has potential for a bat 
roost. The lighting design uses Aspect shielded optics to minimise 
lightspill towards the trees where there is the potential for bat activity. 
The County Ecologist raised no objection to the proposed lighting. A 
condition is recommended for the lighting to be in accordance with the 
submitted lighting details (condition 6) 

 
 Landscaping 
 
5.37 A landscaping layout submitted with the planning application, indicates 

the planting of seven hornbeam trees along the north-eastern side of 
the cycleway and the planting of ‘woodland edge’ and ‘pollinator lawn’ 
seed mixtures in areas on both sides of the cycleway. Final details of 
landscape planting would be a requirement of the Landscape and 
Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) as recommended by the County 
Ecologist to ensure a net gain in biodiversity is secured. A condition is 
recommended for the approved landscaping to be planted during the 
first planting season following completion of any works approved. 

 
 Heritage 
 
5.38 The application site is located approximately 200m from Nuneaton 

Town Centre Conservation Area and 300m from Abbey Conservation 
Area. The grade II Ritz Cinema is the nearest listed building, some 
90m to the southwest of the application site. Although these heritage 
assets are in relatively close proximity to the application site, the 
proposed cycleway development would not be seen in the same 

Page 18

Page 10 of 13



 
OFFICIAL 

context as either the listed building or the conservation areas and 
therefore considered to result in no harm to the heritage assets.  

 
 Highway Issues 
 
5.39 The junctions between the proposed cycleway and the existing 

highway beyond the red line area at the northern and southern end of 
the site would require alterations to the highway. Those alterations are 
works within the highway and would constitute permitted development, 
not requiring planning permission and have for that reason, not been 
included within the red line area of the planning application. However, 
details of the necessary highway alterations were included in the Road 
Safety Audit for the cycleway to enable assessment of the whole 
highway scheme as part of the wider project. Alterations to the design 
of the junction of the cycleway with Central Avenue to the north of 
Abbey Green Gardens and an amendment to the bellmouth junction to 
provide a connection for the cycleway onto Corporation Street were 
required in response to initial comments from the Highway Authority. 
Amended plans of the junction were provided for consultation and 
following a Stage 1 / 2 Road Safety Audit the Highway Authority 
responded with no objection.   

 
5.40 A local resident raised an objection to the proposed cycleway, stating 

that as an alternative to the proposed scheme, the grass verge along 
Corporation Street could be hard surfaced to increase the width of the 
pavement to have enough room for a cycle path. It was further 
suggested that this alternative would have the benefits of removing the 
need to provide additional lighting and removal of the cost of 
maintaining the grass verge. In response, the applicant explained that 
widening the existing footpath to provide a 3 m wide two-way cycle/foot 
path would either result in the widened facility impacting on the tree 
root protection area, potentially resulting in the removal of the existing 
trees in Abbey Green, or require the removal of the existing bus layby, 
which would impact the operational performance and journey time 
reliability of Corporation Street. 

 
5.41 Highway alterations in the vicinity of the application site are proposed 

as part of the Transforming Nuneaton Highway Improvements 
Programme. These include increasing the width of Corporation Street 
on the southern section of the southbound carriageway between the 
bus layby and the roundabout on the junction with A444 Newtown 
Road, to create a left-turn lane in order to improve traffic flow. These 
road layout alterations are located beyond the planning application site 
and do not form part of the current planning application. The works 
would require the removal of the vegetation adjacent to the eastern 
side of Corporation Street, including two hornbeam trees, which have 
been identified in the Arboricultural Assessment submitted with the 
current application as being removed. 

 
 
 

Page 19

Page 11 of 13



 
OFFICIAL 

Flooding and Drainage Issues 
 
5.42 Abbey Green Gardens is located within Flood Zone 1 where there is a 

low risk of fluvial flooding, however the EA Surface Water Flood Map 
shows that a small area of the site is at low and medium risk of surface 
water flooding associated with a surface water flow path crossing the 
proposed cycle route. This flow path runs on an existing footpath in 
Abbey Green which connects Corporation Street and Graham Street. 
The depth of the water within the flow path is expected to be shallow. 
The proposed levels of the cycleway would remain as existing at the 
location where it is crossed by the existing surface water flow path. As 
a result, the proposed cycleway is designed not to block the existing 
flow path to ensure there would be no adverse change in surface water 
flood risk within or beyond the site. 

 
5.43 The proposed cycleway would have a crossfall of 1 in 40 minimum to 

ensure surface water would be directed away into the surrounding 
grass area, mitigating the risk of surface water flooding within the site 
or surrounding area. Permeable asphalt is proposed for the cycleway 
surface to allow water to filter through the surface and infiltrate into the 
ground. 
 

5.44 The County Council Flood Risk and Water Management Team as Lead 
Local Flood Authority raised no objection to the proposed development 
subject to a planning pre-commencement condition for the approval in 
writing of a detailed surface water drainage scheme (condition 5). 

 
Restrictive Covenants 
 

5.45 In their objection to the proposed cycle path, a local resident raised the 
issue of a covenant on the land at Abbey Green Garden which was 
considered to be relevant to the proposed development.  

 
5.46 The applicant advised that in liaison with NBBC, the land title has been 

examined. It was concluded that the development of the pathway 
would not contravene the terms of the covenant as the cycle way would 
fall within the use of land for pleasure ground (i.e. recreational 
purposes).  

 
5.47 In addition, the restrictions on the Title are for construction which it 

defines as ‘construction of buildings and erections’. The cycleway 
construction is neither a building or an erection and is considered to be 
the same as the construction of a footpath across the park. 

 
6. Conclusions 
 
6.1 The improved cycling infrastructure provided by the construction of the 

proposed 3 m wide cycleway/footpath routed through Abbey Green 
Garden would accord with the NPPF and policies NE1, NE2 and HS6 
of the Local Plan. 

 

Page 20

Page 12 of 13



 
OFFICIAL 

6.2 The design of the cycleway/footway, including the choice of permeable 
materials; the design and location of lighting and the proposed 
landscape planting are considered to be to a high standard and to 
provide environmental mitigation and enhancement in accordance with 
the requirements of policies DS3 and BE3 of the Local Plan. 

 
6.3 A biodiversity net gain is indicated in the submitted BIA in accordance 

with the requirements of the NPPF and Policy NE3 of the Local Plan. 
 
6.4 The development is considered to be in accordance with the 

requirements of the NPPF and local plan policies and is recommended 
for approval subject to the recommended planning conditions. 

 
7. Supporting Documents 
 
7.1 Submitted Planning Application – Planning reference NBB/22CC001 
 
7.2 Appendix A – Map of site and location. 
 
7.3 Appendix B – Planning Conditions. 
 
 
 
 Name Contact Information 
Report Author Sally Panayi sallypanayi@warwickshire.gov.uk 

01926 412692 
Assistant Director for 
Environment Services 

Scott Tompkins scotttompkins@warwickshire.gov.uk 

Strategy Director for 
Communities 

Mark Ryder markryder@warwickshire.gov.uk 

Portfolio Holder Cllr Wallace 
Redford 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 21

Page 13 of 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Warwickshire County Council
Shire Hall
Warwick, CV34 4SA
Telephone (01926 410410)
www.warwickshire.gov.ukRegulatory Committee 04 October 2022

Scale 1:1500 Drawn by: SP Dept: Communities © Crown Copyright and database right 2022. Ordnance Survey 100019520.

  Application No: NBB/22CC001
  Abbey Green Gardens, Corporation Street, Nuneaton
  Proposed Cycleway

Central Ave

P
age 23

P
age 1 of 1

P
age 1 of 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 
 
 

Upgrading and relocation of the Corporation Street 
pedestrian and cycling facilities, with soft landscaping and 

street lighting. 
 

NBB/22CC001 
 
Planning Conditions. 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall commence no later than 3 years 

from the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act, 2004. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the planning application form, Planning Statement prepared by Atkins dated 
February 2022, details shown on: 
 
• 9.2-A444—056-040 Site Location Plan 
• 9.2-A444—056-011 Rev B - General Outline of Works, 
• 9.2-A444—056-042 Rev A – Proposed Site Plan, 
• 9.2-A444—056-043 - Existing and Proposed Crossing Sections, 
• 9.2-A444—056-009 - General Highway Layout 
• Abbey Green Cycleway – Landscape Specification dated 18.02.22 
• Flood Risk Statement and Drainage Strategy- Abbey Green, 

Nuneaton_5194200-ATK-ZZ-ZZ-RPT-C001_rev 2.0 
• 5209200-ATK-XX-XXC-DR-0001_rev P01 Proposed Cycleway Overland 

Flow Plan 
• Further information email: NBB/22CC001-Abbey Green Gardens Flood 

Response dated 06/05/22 
• Transforming Nuneaton Highways: Corporation Street, Ecological Impact 

Assessment dated Feb 2022 
• Biodiversity Impact Assessment dated 17.02.22 
• Archaeological Desk Based Assessment Report No. 2182 dated October 

2021. 
 

and any samples or details approved in accordance with the conditions 
attached to this permission, except to the extent that any modification is 
required or allowed b or pursuant to these details.  
 
Reason: In order to secure a satisfactory standard of development. 

 
 

 

Page 25

Page 1 of 4Page 1 of 4



3. The development hereby permitted, including site clearance, shall not 
commence until a Construction and Environmental Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. 
The agreed Construction and Environmental Management Plan shall 
thereafter be implemented in full.   
  
Reason: To ensure that protected species are not harmed by the 
development. (In discharging this condition, the County Planning Authority 
expects to see details concerning pre-commencement checks for bats, 
breeding birds and appropriate working practices and safeguards for wildlife 
that are to be employed whilst works are taking place on site.) 
 

4. The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a detailed 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The plan should include 
details of planting and maintenance of all new planting. Details of species 
used and sourcing of plants should be included. The plan should also include 
details of habitat enhancement/creation measures and management, such as 
native species planting, wildflower grassland creation, woodland and 
hedgerow creation/enhancement, and provision of habitat for protected and 
notable species (including location, number and type of bat and bird boxes, 
location of log piles).  Such approved measures shall thereafter be 
implemented in full.  
 
Reason: To ensure a net biodiversity gain in accordance with NPPF.  

 
5. No development shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage 

scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details before the development is completed.  
 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding; to improve and protect 
water quality; and to improve habitat and amenity (The notes numbered 1 
below set out the details required to discharge this condition). 

 
6. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 

the approved lighting scheme drawing number 5210219-ATK-HLG-COR-DR-
EO-1001 Rev P03 – Road Lighting General Arrangement and supporting 
Technical Note Detailed Design Designer’s Narrative prepared by Atkins, 
dated 08.12.2021 and maintained as such for the duration of the approved 
development or any variation as agreed in writing by the County Planning 
Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of protected species and residential amenity. 
 
 
 
 

Page 26

Page 2 of 4



7. The landscaping drawing approved pursuant to condition 4 of this permission 
shall be implemented in the first planting season following completion of the 
development hereby approved and, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
County Planning Authority, should any plants, trees or shrubs planted as part 
of the landscaping scheme die, be removed or become damaged or seriously 
diseased within five years of the initial planting then they shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with others of a similar size and species.  

 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed 
development and to ensure a biodiversity net gain. 

 
 
Development Plan Policies Relevant to the Decision. 
 
Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council Borough Plan 2011-2031 
 
Policy DS1 – Sustainable development  
Policy DS2 – Settlement of hierarchy 
Policy DS3 – Development principles 
Policy TC2 – Nature of town centre growth 
Policy HS2 – Strategic accessibility and sustainable transport 
Policy HS6 – Sport and exercise 
Policy NE1 – Green infrastructure 
Policy NE2 – Open space 
Policy NE3 – Biodiversity and geodiversity 
Policy BE3 – Sustainable design and construction 
 
 
Compliance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
 
In considering this application the County Council has complied with Paragraph 38 
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Notes 
 
1. Requirements for discharge of Condition 5 - Surface Water Drainage 

Scheme: 
 
The scheme to be submitted shall:  

 
i) Provide detail drawings including cross sections, of proposed cycleway and 

sub-base. These should be feature-specific demonstrating that the surface 
water drainage system(s) are designed in accordance with ‘The SuDS Manual’, 
CIRIA Report C753. Consideration should be given to providing a perforated 
pipe or under-drain in the sub-base to allow collection and conveyance through 
the sub-base in extreme events.  
 
 

Page 27

Page 3 of 4



ii).  Provide a detailed maintenance plan to ensure the maintenance of the surface 
water drainage systems for the lifetime of the development. 

 
Such a maintenance plan should:  
 

a) Provide the name of the party responsible, including contact name, 
address, email address and phone number  

b) Include plans showing the locations of features requiring maintenance and 
how these should be accessed.  

c)  Provide details on how surface water each relevant feature shall be 
maintained and managed for the life-time of the development.  

d)  Be of a nature to allow an operator, who has no prior knowledge of the 
scheme, to conduct the required routine maintenance.  

 

Page 28

Page 4 of 4



 

 

Regulatory Committee 

4 October 2022 

Trustees of the King Edward VI Grammar 
School, Stratford upon Avon 

 
Recommendation 

 
That the Regulatory Committee approves the nomination of Councillor Tim Sinclair to the 
Board of Trustees of the King Edward VI Grammar School, Stratford upon Avon.   
 
1. Purpose of the report and context 

 
1.1 King Edward VI Grammar School is located in Stratford upon Avon. It is the 

school that William Shakespeare almost certainly attended. The school is 
supported by a registered charity titled, “The Grammar School of King Edward 
VI, Stratford upon Avon (528769)”. The stated purpose of the charity is to, 
“provide items, services and facilities to the school”. The work of the charity is 
overseen by a Board of Trustees. This board comprises two ex-officio 
members who are the Mayor and High Steward of the town, four co-opted 
members and a single trustee nominated by Warwickshire County Council. 
 

1.2 For a number of years, the county council nominee has been former 
Councillor Mike Brain. Unfortunately, Mike in no longer able to continue his 
association with the charity. As a consequence of this the council has been 
asked by the charity’s Trustees to nominate a replacement.  
 

1.3 Following consultation with all Group Leaders Councillor Tim Sinclair has 
been proposed for the role. Councillor Sinclair is one of the three county 
councillors whose divisions make up Stratford upon Avon town. He has 
already undertaken some work with the school and is known to the Trustees.  
 

1.4 In order to formalise Councillor Sinclair’s nomination, it is necessary to obtain 
the approval of the Regulatory Committee. That approval is now requested.  

 
2. Environmental Implications 

 
2.1 Councillor Sinclair resides in Stratford upon Avon. Any journeys to the 

Grammar School for meetings of the charity will be short (1.2 miles). 

Page 29

Page 1 of 2 Agenda Item 4



 

 

 
3. Financial Implication 

 
Any travel expenses claimed for the attendance at meetings of the 
Trustees will be required to be met. However, these are likely to be very 
low given journey distances. 

 
4. Background Papers 

None 
 
 

 Name Contact Information 
Report Author Paul Williams paulwilliamscl@warwickshire.gov.uk 
Assistant Director Sarah Duxbury sarahduxbury@warwickshire.gov.uk 
Strategic Director Rob Powell robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk 
Portfolio Holder Councillor Andy Jenns andyjenns@warwickshire.gov.uk 

 
This report was not circulated to elected members prior to publication. 

 
 

Page 30

Page 2 of 2

mailto:paulwilliamscl@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:sarahduxbury@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:robpowell@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:andyjenns@warwickshire.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1(3) Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	2 Delegated Decisions
	3 Planning Application NBB/22CC001 - Creation of cycle path through Abbey Green Gardens, Corporation Street, Nuneaton
	NBB22CC001 Abbey Green Oct 22
	Appendix B

	4 Trustees of King Edward VI Grammar School, Stratford upon Avon
	Regulatory Committee 4 October 2022
	Recommendation
	1.	Purpose of the report and context
	2.	Environmental Implications
	3.	Financial Implication
	4.	Background Papers



